S252915

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LESLIE T. WILDE, Plaintiff and Appellant,

V.

CITY OF DUNSMUIR, et al. Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal of the State of California
Third Appellate District, Case No. C082664
Appeal from Superior Court of the State of California, County of Siskiyou
The Honorable Anne Bouliane, Judge Presiding
Civil Case No. SC CV PT 16-549

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

KENNY & NORINE

\*John Sullivan Kenny, SBN 39206
Linda R. Schaap, SBN 171945
1923 Court Street
Redding, CA 96001
jskenny@lawnorcal.com
Tel: (530) 244-7777
Fax: (530) 246-2836

Attorneys for Respondents City of Dunsmuir, et al.

#### I. QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Are property related fees under California Constitution, article XIII D, section 6 and other fees which fund essential government services subject to referendum notwithstanding article II, section 9 of the California Constitution?

#### II. INTRODUCTION

This Petition for Review involves a published Opinion that misconstrues California Constitution, article II, section 9<sup>1</sup> and articles XIII C and XIII D, adopted by 1996's Proposition 218. The Opinion, which is inconsistent with precedent interpreting article II, section 9, applies the disruptive referendum power to essential government revenues despite the contrary intent evidenced in that section. It does so despite Proposition 218's express limitation on that section only as to the initiative and its concomitant silent affirmation of earlier precedent under that section 9. Still further, it conflicts with the role afforded registered voters, property owners and other fee payors under article XIII D, section 6, subdivisions (a) and (e) creating disharmony among these provisions which may be easily harmonized by maintaining earlier law.

Moreover, the Opinion will disrupt and impair public finance — the State's as well as local governments' — and make it more difficult, and most costly, to fund such essential government services as water supply. The significance of the Opinion is demonstrated by the requests for depublication filed by all five local government associations in our State — the Association of California Water Agencies, the California State Association of Counties, the California Association of Sanitary Agencies, the California Special Districts Association, and the League of California Cities. It is also demonstrated by the opposition to those requests filed by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unspecified references to "articles" are to the California Constitution.

the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association. Those requests demonstrate the issue has arisen in this and at least three other recent cases in Orange, Amador and Monterey Counties. The question merits review.

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In November 1996, California voters adopted Proposition 218, adding articles XIII C and XIII D to our Constitution. Proposition 218 is intended to fill a gap contained in Proposition 13 that allowed property assessments to be imposed without a vote. To that end, Proposition 218 expressly limits the force of article II, sections 8 and 9, but only as to the power of initiative as applied to proposals to repeal or reduce taxes. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, section 3.) Article II, section 9 reserves to the People the referendum power — as to the State and local governments alike — and, in so doing, identifies essential government legislation which cannot be suspended by a referendum petition as ordinary legislation can:

Sec. 9. (a) The referendum is the power of the electors to approve or reject statutes or parts of statutes **except** urgency statutes, statutes calling elections, and **statutes providing for tax levies or appropriations for usual current expenses of the State**.

(Cal. Const. art. II, § 9, subd. (a); e.g., Yesson v. San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 212, 219 & fn. 3 [art. II, § 9 reserves the referendum power for local and state voters alike].) Precedent interprets "statutes providing for tax levies or appropriations" to reach beyond taxes to fees and other revenue measure that fund essential government services. (E.g., Dare v. Lakeport City Council (1970) 12 Cal.App.3d 864.) The Opinion erodes article II, section 9 and treats Dare v. Lakeport as "abrogated" by Rossi v. Brown (1995) 9 Cal.4th 688 (Rossi). Rossi, however, cites Dare v. Lakeport only twice (at pp. 705, 708),

distinguishing it at the second citation as involving legislative power delegated to the city council alone, applying the rule of *Committee of Seven Thousand v. Superior Court* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 491 [statute may preclude referenda and initiatives by delegated power to legislate to local legislators alone].

Article XIII C, section 3 provides for the voters' right to initiative powers for such challenges notwithstanding prior interpretations of article II, section 9 which had treated such as initiatives an unauthorized end-runs around the referendum ban:

Sec. 3. Initiative Power for Local Taxes, Assessments, Fees and Charges. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Constitution, including, but not limited to, Sections 8 and 9 of Article II, **the initiative power** shall not be prohibited or otherwise limited in matters of reducing or repealing any local tax, assessment, fee or charge. The **power of initiative** to affect local taxes, assessments, fees and charges shall be applicable to all local governments and neither the Legislature nor any local government charter shall impose a signature requirement higher than that applicable to statewide statutory initiatives.

(Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 3, emphasis added.) By specifying that local revenue measures shall not be immune from "the initiative power," the voters who approved Proposition 218 are understood to maintain the earlier prohibition on such referenda under the canon of construction known as expressio unius est exclusio alterius. (E.g., Le Francois v. Goel (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1094, 1105.)

As *Rossi* explains, unlike the immediate impact of a referendum — which immediately suspends legislation pending subsequent voter approval

— a local government has months to plan for the impact of a fiscal initiative. (*Rossi*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 703–704.)

Allowing referenda to challenge revenue required for essential government services will impede the government's ability to perform essential functions, such as here with providing water service. Moreover, as this Court explained in Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency v. Verjil (2006) 39 Cal.4th 205, 217–220, Proposition 218 itself describes the manner of voter involvement in the adoption — or not — of property related fees such as the water fees in issue here. Article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a) provides for a majority protest procedure by which a majority of affected rate-payers may bar the adoption of a water, sewer or trash rate. Subdivision (c) of that same section requires an election — a majority of property owners or two-thirds of registered voters — to approve new properly related fees, except those for water, sewer and refuse collection services. Thus, the Opinion mistakes precedent to give voters the power to disrupt local government finance that the voters who approved article II, section 9 did not intend and that the voters who approved Proposition 218 confirmed. It is error worthy of this Court's review.

# IV. THE QUESTION MERITS REVIEW BECAUSE LOCAL GOVERNMENT'S ABILITY TO FUND ESSENTIAL SERVICES IS IN ISSUE

The question presented is of great importance because it affects the power of the State Legislature and every California local government to fund essential services. Review is necessary both to secure uniformity of decision (the Opinion treats *Dare* as abrogated but fails to persuade this is so) and to settle this important question of law.

Review will secure uniform statewide application of article II, section 9 as to referenda to suspect enactment of measures to fund essential

government services and the relationship of that section to article XIII C, section 3 (reserving the initiative power as to revenue measures) and article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (c) (exempting water, sewer and trash fees from election requirements applicable to other property related fees).

As *Rossi* explained some two decades ago (*Rossi*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 703–704), governments can plan for the fiscal impact of a future change by way of initiative whereas referenda immediately disrupt service funding. For example, the bail bond industry's current referendum against the recent repeal of bail statutes immediately suspends that measure, stymying efforts to plan for that major change in the operation of our criminal courts until voters pass on the measure — in 2020 unless the Legislature calls a special election at great expense. An initiative to restore a bail system, by contrast, would have no impact on our laws unless and until voters approve it, providing perhaps two years lead time to plan for the change.

Moreover, that the question presented is worthy of this Court's review appears from the frequency the issue has arisen in recent years. In addition to this case arising in Siskiyou County, it has arisen in at least three other recent cases:

1. Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association et al. v. Amador Water Agency et al, Third DCA Case No. C082079 (appeal filed May 20, 2016, fully brief November 3, 2016). (Motion for Judicial Notice filed herewith ("MJN"), Exh. A.) This case, now pending in the Court which rendered the Opinion, involves an effort to referend water rates imposed by the Amador Water Agency. Unlike *Wilde*, the case attracted amicus participation. It remains pending in the Court of Appeal. The pendency of this case may explain the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association's opposition to the local government associations' request to depublish the Opinion.

- 2. Monterey Peninsula Taxpayers' Association et al. v. Board of Directors of the Monterey Peninsula Water Management District, et al. Sixth DCA Case No. H042484. (MJN, Exh. B.) The unpublished opinion was filed April 11, 2018, affirming denial of a writ of mandate and declaratory relief to invalidate an ordinance that imposed a water supply charge and to place a referendum on the ballot. The reviewing court held that property-related fees for water service are exempt from voter approval under article XIII D, section 6 and the referendum was properly withheld from the ballot under the full-text rule of such cases as Lin v. City of Pleasanton (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 1143. The Sixth District, therefore, did not reach whether article II, section 9 prohibits referenda to suspend water rates.
- 3. Ebinger v. Yorba Linda Water District, Orange County Superior Court Case No. 30-2016-00829548-CU-JR-CJC. (MJN, Exh. C.) This case filed January 12, 2016 sought a writ of mandate to either repeal an emergency water rate increase or to place a referendum on the ballot. The trial court denied the writ, finding repeal of the increase would have serious consequences in a drought. These included impairment of the respondent district's ability to provide adequate and reliable supplies of potable water to those it served. The case settled without appellate decision when the advocates of the rate repeal gained control of the district board, achieving by political means what they could not in court.

These four cases from every corner of our state — from Orange in the South to Siskiyou in the North, from Monterey on the Coast, to Amador at the Nevada line — indicate that the question presented has arisen repeatedly across our state in recent years. It merits review.

Moreover, this case is a good vehicle. The issues are squarely presented. Although the petitioner appears *pro per*, the trial court received

and considered an amicus letter from the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers
Association below. Amicus participation is likely here on the merits if this
Court grants review just as has been seen as to the request for
depublication.

Noteworthy is the amicus letter by five associations that represent essentially all of California's local governments requesting depublication of the Opinion. The City anticipates these same organizations will provide a letter in support of review.

The Opinion has serious and detrimental effects on all governments in California — State and local, — can greatly impair public services, stymie fiscal planning and make it more difficult and more costly to provide such vital services as water, sewer and refuse removal services. At the very least, it will make it harder to issue debt to fund such services and make such debt more costly when lenders impose risk premiums.

For these reasons, the City of Dunsmuir respectfully urges this Court to grant review.

#### V. SUMMARY OF FACTS

Dunsmuir is a general law city of fewer than 1600 people on Interstate 5 in southern Siskiyou County that attracts many tourists to fish, hike, and otherwise enjoy the scenic beauty of the region. Many of the City's water mains and a water storage tank are over 100 years old and must be replaced to maintain a reliable potable water supply for the community. (CT 77.) These water system updates would ensure water delivery and pressure to residents and fire protection in major sections of the City — an urgent concern in light of recent disastrous fires in other communities at the urban-wildland interface. (CT 77.) An Ad Hoc Water Rate Committee, including two council members and three select citizen representatives, met in public session six times. (CT 77.) The Committee

recommended the City Council increase water rates to fund the restoration project. (CT 77.) The proposed rates, implementing a water master plan and supported by a form rate study, would raise approximately \$15,000,000 over the five years permitted by Government Code section 53756, subdivision (a) [Prop. 218 Omnibus Implementation Act]. The rate structure was of two parts. First, base (fixed monthly) rates were proposed such that, at the end of a five-year period, the City could find the minimum local share needed for federal grants to support the rehabilitation project. (CT 78.) Second, consumption rates were set to meet funding requirements for the balance of the project. (CT 78.)

The City conducted the noticed hearing and protest proceeding required by Proposition 218 (Cal. Const., art. XIII D, § 6, subd. (a)) yielding just 40 protest votes when approximately 800 were needed to bar the proposed rates. The City Council therefore unanimously adopted Resolution 2016-02 to impose the increased water rates increase. (CT 78, 81-84.)

Ms. Wilde then circulated a referendum to prevent the Resolution from taking effect. Given the small size of the City, few signatures were needed. (Elec. Code, § 9237 [lesser of 100 signatures or 25 percent of electorate in City with fewer than 1,000 voters sufficient to qualify a referendum].) Wilde obtained approximately 100 signatures, which the County Clerk-Registrar certified. The City took no action on the petition, interpreting article II, section 9 and article XIII C, section 3 to allow rate challenges by initiative but not referenda.

Wilde sought a writ of mandate. (CT 1–54.) The City opposed. (CT 55–87.) The Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association submitted an amicus letter in support of the petition, which the trial court accepted. (CT 88–95).

While her writ was pending, Wilde circulated an initiative petition to reduce the City's water and sewer rates. (City's Motion in the Court of Appeal for Judicial Notice (City's DCA MJN), Declaration of John Sullivan Kenny, Exh. A.)<sup>2</sup> The City submitted the Initiative to the voters. (City's DCA MJN, Exh. B.) On November 8, 2016, the voters rejected the Initiative by a substantial margin. (City's DCA MJN, Exh. D.) Thus, Wilde had two opportunities to persuade her neighbors to defeat the rates — in the majority protest proceeding required by article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a) and at the polls in November 2016. She sues here for a third bite at the apple.

#### VI. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The trial court heard the writ on July 1, 2016. It denied the writ, concluding that Proposition 218 provides for initiative power, but not referendum, as to property related fees. (RT 2–11; CT 131–132.) Wilde appealed. (CT 133–134.)

The Third District reversed and remanded with instruction to issue a preemptory writ of mandate to compel an election on the referendum at the City's next election. The Opinion concluded Proposition 218 did not abridge what it concluded was voters' earlier-established right to referend local revenue measures. The Opinion also states that the government services exception does not apply because the referendum does not

The appellate court took judicial notice of petitioner's initiative (Measure W) (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 5, 1996), analysis by the Legislative Analyst for Prop. 218); the ballot on which Measure W appeared; and the voters' rejection of Measure W. (Opin. at p. 2.) The City will separately move this Court for notice of those materials on request. The Motion for Judicial Notice filed with this petition is limited to materials not presented below.

undermine the City's ability to provide essential government services as it would not limit the City's future ability to study, plan and implement a new water rate master plan. This exception to the referendum power is developed in such cases as *Hunt v. Mayor and Council of City of Riverside* (1948) 31 Cal.2d 619.

The Court of Appeal filed the Opinion November 15, 2018. The City sought rehearing on November 29, 2018. The Court of Appeal denied the Petition on December 4, 2018.

Four of the local government associations sought depublication on December 5, 2018. A fifth filed a separate request on December 13, 2018. On December 14, 2018, the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association filed a letter opposing the earlier request. The request remains pending as this Petition is filed.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

## A. Article II, Section 9 Prohibits Referenda as to Local Government Fees

Article II, section 9 reserves the voters' power to approve or reject statutes by referendum, but that power has limits. Section 9 prohibits referenda of "urgency statutes, statutes calling elections, and statutes providing for tax levies or appropriations for usual current expenses of the State." (Cal. Const., art. II, § 9.) The power — and its exception — apply to local legislation. *Rossi*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 703.

The prohibition of referenda on "tax levies or appropriations" stabilizes government finances and prevents the abrupt disruption of government operations and finances a referendum would cause. *Rossi*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 703. Allowing referenda that immediately suspend a government from collecting revenue to fund essential services defeats the purpose of section 9's exclusions.

Voters adopted Proposition 218 to add article XIII C, section 3 to our Constitution to allow initiatives to reduce or repeal fiscal measures, effectively codifying *Rossi*. As noted above, its reference to initiatives and its silence as to referenda must be treated as intentional and meaningful. (Cf. *Citizens Assn. of Sunset Beach v. Orange County Local Agency Formation Com.* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 1182, 1191 [Prop. 218 did not impliedly repeal statutes allowing city annexations, citing Sherlock Holmes' "dog that did not bark"].)

Article XIII C, section 3 distinguishes the initiative from the referendum: "Notwithstanding any other provision of this Constitution, including, but not limited to, Sections 8 and 9 of Article II, **the initiative power** shall not be prohibited or otherwise limited in matters of reducing or repealing any local tax, assessment, fee or charge." (Emphasis added.) Applying the common canon of construction cited above, this provision allows initiatives, might have allowed referenda and as it did not expressly do so, must be read not to do so. (*Le Francois, supra* [expressio unius rule].)

The referendum does not extend to "tax levies or appropriations" because a contrary rule would disrupt government finance. (*Geiger v. Board of Sup'rs of Butte County* (1957) 48 Cal.2d 832, 839–840.) As *Rossi* explains, a referendum immediately suspends legislation upon certification of petition signatures (here, just 100 in a town of 1,600) and is therefore more disruptive of fiscal administration than a prospective reduction in revenue by initiative:

[I]f a tax measure were subject to referendum, the county's ability to adopt a balanced budget and raise funds for current operating expenses ... would be delayed and might be impossible. As a result, the county would be unable to comply

with the law or to provide essential services to residents of the county.... If essential government functions would be seriously impaired by the referendum process, the courts, in construing the applicable constitutional and statutory provisions, will assume that no such result was intended.

(Rossi, supra, 9 Cal.4th at p. 703.)

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