SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

S252915

LESLIE T. WILDE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF DUNSMUIR et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C082664 Superior Court, County of Siskiyou, Hon. Anne Bouliane Civil Case No. SC CV PT 16-549

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jonathan M. Coupal, SBN 107815 Trevor A. Grimm, SBN 34258 Timothy A. Bittle, SBN 112300 Laura E. Murray, SBN 255855 Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Foundation 921 Eleventh Street, Suite 1201 Sacramento, CA 95814 Telephone: (916) 444-9950

Facsimile: (916) 444-9823

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant Wilde

REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE CITY HAS UNCLEAN HANDS

When presented with the Registrar's certification that a referendum petition has qualified for the ballot, the City Council has a ministerial duty under the Elections Code. "If the legislative body does not entirely repeal the ordinance against which the petition is filed, the legislative body shall submit the ordinance to the voters, either at the next regular municipal election ... or at a special election." (Elec. Code § 9241.)

The City Council "must take one action or the other, but cannot refuse to do both." (19 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 94, 97 (1952).)¹ The people's right to call an election on a controversial ordinance cannot properly be impeded by a City Council's unilateral determination that the referendum is invalid, "even if supported by the advice of the city attorney." (Farley v. Healey (1967) 67 Cal.2d 325, 327; Native American Sacred Site and Environmental Protection Assn. v. City of San Juan Capistrano (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 961, 966; Goodenough v. Superior Court (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 692, 696.)

When an agency refuses to place an initiative or referendum on the ballot based on its own finding of invalidity, it unlawfully purports to "exercise adjudicative powers" (*Alliance for a Better Downtown Millbrae v. Wade* (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 123, 136) and thus "usurps the judicial power in this respect." (*Citizens for Responsible Behavior v. Superior Court* (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 1013, 1021 & n.4.)

"The law is clear: A local government is not empowered to refuse to place a duly certified initiative on the ballot. What should a local government do if it believes an initiative measure is unlawful and should not be presented to the voters? A

6

¹ Unless noted otherwise, all emphasis is added.

governmental body, or any person or entity with standing, may file a petition for writ of mandate, seeking a court order removing the initiative measure from the ballot. But such entity or person may not unilaterally decide to prevent a duly qualified initiative from being presented to the electorate." (*Save Stanislaus Area Farm Economy v. Board of Supervisors* (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 141, 149 (citations omitted).)

Under the decades of authority cited above, if the Dunsmuir City Council believed that its citizens had no legal right to vote on plaintiff's duly qualified referendum, the Council had a ministerial duty to place the referendum on the ballot, then utilize the expedited election writ procedure provided in the Elections Code (Elec. Code § 9295) pursuant to which a defective referendum can be judicially removed, but a valid referendum will remain on the ballot for which it qualified.

Rather than obey the law, the Dunsmuir City Council brazenly withheld plaintiff's referendum from the ballot and dared her to sue. Acting in pro per, plaintiff sought judicial relief and was finally vindicated by the Court of Appeal. The City is now petitioning this Court for review. But the City has unclean hands and should not benefit from its conduct. "[W]henever a party, who ... seeks to set the judicial machinery in motion and obtain some remedy, has violated conscience, or good faith, or other equitable principle, in his prior conduct, then the doors of the court will be shut against him." (*Katz v. Karlsson* (1948) 84 Cal.App.2d 469, 474-75 (and cases cited therein).)

///

THE CITY'S "FEE = TAX" ARGUMENT, RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN THIS PETITION, SHOULD BE IGNORED

"As a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal." (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(1).)

In the Court of Appeal, the City argued that plaintiff's appeal was moot; it argued that rate-setting is not a legislative act subject to the people's referendum power; and it argued that Proposition 218 permits user fees to be challenged only by initiative. (See generally, Respondents' Brief on appeal.)

After the Court of Appeal ruled in plaintiff's favor, certain local government associations filed a request for depublication, which is still pending before this Court. Their request is based on a new theory—that article II, section 9, of the California Constitution, which reserves the people's power to referend statutes and ordinances except for "tax levies or appropriations," should be read to also exclude user fees from the people's reach.

In its Petition for Review, the City has now borrowed that theory to attack the decision of the Court of Appeal: "The issue that the Opinion overlooks is whether the water rate revenues disputed here are 'tax levies or appropriations' under article II, section 9." (Petition for Review at 18.) Aside from the unfairness of criticizing the Court of Appeal for "overlooking" an argument that the City never raised, it is the policy of this Court to not review a question "that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal." (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(1).) "As we have observed on numerous occasions, 'a constitutional right,' or a right of any other sort, 'may be forfeited in criminal as well as civil cases by the failure to make timely assertion of the right before a tribunal having jurisdiction to determine it." (*People v. McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589, 593.)

III

THE EXCEPTION FOR "TAX LEVIES" DOES NOT APPLY TO USER FEES

Even if the City had argued in the Court of Appeal that user fees should be treated the same as tax levies for the purpose of excepting them from the people's referendum power, the argument fails.

The City admits that California's constitution today, as amended by Proposition 218, defines taxes to not include fees, and defines fees to not include taxes. (Petition for Review at 16.) Article XIII C, section 1(e) defines "tax" as "any levy ... except [among other things] property-related fees imposed in accordance with the provisions of Article XIII D." Article XIII D, in turn, defines a "'fee' ... including a user fee or charge for a property related service" such as water delivery, to mean a "levy other than ... a tax." (art. XIII D, § (2)(e).) The terms are thus mutually exclusive.

The City argues that "[t]hese modern definitions do not apply outside of articles XIII C and XIII D and in particular they do not apply to article II, section 9" wherein the people reserve to themselves the referendum power. (Petition for Review at 16.) But this theory is contrary to settled rules of constitutional construction. "It is a cardinal rule of construction that words or phrases are not to be viewed in isolation; instead, each is to be read in the context of the other provisions of the Constitution bearing on the same subject." (Fields v. March Fong Eu (1976) 18 Cal.3d 322, 328; Serrano v. Priest (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, 596; Wallace v. Payne (1925) 197 Cal. 539, 544.)

Here, Proposition 218 (which established various rights to vote on taxes and fees, and defines "taxes" to exclude user fees) bears on the same subject as article II, section 9 (excepting "taxes" from the right to vote via referendum). Proposition 218 expressly cross-references article II, section 9. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 3.) Article II, section 2's exclusion of tax levies from the

people's right to vote, then, *should* be informed by the "modern definitions" contained in Proposition 218 when determining exactly what levies the people have placed outside their reach.

The City cites only one case for its novel theory that the constitution's provisions must be compartmentalized by date of adoption: *Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency v. Verjil* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 205. But *Bighorn* is weak support.

Noting that section 2 of article XIII D (which contains the definition of a "fee," but not a "tax") begins with the words, "As used in this article," *Bighorn* states that article XIII D's "fee" definition "do[es] not *necessarily* apply outside of article XIII D On the other hand, when a word has been used in different parts of a single enactment, courts normally infer that the word was intended to have the same meaning throughout." (*Bighorn*, 39 Cal.4th at 213 (emphasis in original).) The Court then applied the definition *outside* of article XIII D.

Moreover, *Bighorn* said nothing about article XIII C's definition of "tax," which expressly excludes user fees. Article XIII C applies to "*All* taxes" (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 2(a)) and no court has suggested that article XIII C should not be harmonized with article II, section 9.

In any event, California law has long distinguished taxes from user fees even without the "modern definitions" that the City is trying to avoid:

"Governmental levies against real property generally fall into three categories: (1) taxes, (2) special assessments, and (3) developmental and regulatory fees or 'user charges.' Each class of charge has particular characteristics, limitations, and purposes. Special assessments are made for the purpose of completing a specific public improvement [that] will benefit only certain properties. ... [A] special assessment is not really a

tax but a benefit to specific property that is financed through the public credit. ... In addition to special assessments, property may be charged with different types of fees. These include: (a) regulatory fees imposed under the government's police power, (b) developmental fees exacted in return for permits or other governmental privileges, and (c) user fees. ... [U]ser fees are those which are charged only to the person actually using the service; the amount of the charge is generally related to the actual goods or services provided. A user fee for an ongoing service is a monthly charge rather than a one-time payment. User fees are thus distinguishable from special assessments as well as special taxes." (Isaac v. City of Los Angeles (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 586, 595-97 (citations omitted).)

"The court in *Solvang Mun. Improvement Dist. v. Board of Supervisors* (1980) 112 Cal.App.3d 545 [189 Cal.Rptr. 391], discussed the difference between a property tax and a special assessment: 'An ad valorem tax on real property ... is the tax levied by a county to pay for general expenditures, such as fire and police protection ... which are deemed to benefit all property owners within the taxing district, whether or not they make use of or enjoy any direct benefit from such expenditures. ... In contrast, a special assessment, sometimes described as a local assessment, is a charge imposed on particular real property for a local public improvement of direct benefit to that property, as for example a street improvement. ... In contrast to a special assessment, a usage fee typically is charged only to those who use the goods or services. The amount of the charge is related

to the actual goods or services provided to the payer. The usage fee for an ongoing service would normally be a monthly charge rather than a one-time charge." (*San Marcos Water Dist. v. San Marcos Unified Sch. Dist.* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 154, 161-62 (citations omitted).)

The *Solvang* and *San Marcos* cases pre-date the "modern definitions" that the City is trying to avoid, yet they distinguish taxes from fees in the same way, judicially recognizing the clear demarcation between the two and holding that taxes and user fees have different characteristics, serve different purposes, and are subject to different rules.

Another case predating modern definitions, *Arcade County Water Dist.* v. *Arcade Fire Dist.* (1970) 6 Cal.App.3d 232, specifically addressed whether fees for water service could be considered taxes. *Arcade* involved a dispute between public water districts and public fire departments over whether the fire departments were required to pay for hydrant water they used to fight fires. The fire departments argued that they should not be required to pay water fees because they were exempt from taxation. The Court of Appeal rejected the attempt to equate fees and taxes: "Defendants' characterization of plaintiffs' charges as a 'tax' is unfounded. A charge for services rendered is in no sense a tax (see *City of Oakland v. E. K. Wood Lumber Co.* (1930) 211 Cal. 16, 25 [292 P. 1076, 80 A.L.R. 379]). The defendant fire districts are liable to the water districts for the services supplied." (*Arcade Cty. Water Dist.*, 6 Cal.App.3d at 240.)

Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency v. Verjil, relied on by the City, actually assists plaintiff in clarifying that water rates are not taxes, but fees. The Court held that "a public water agency's charges for ongoing water delivery, which are fees and charges within the meaning of article XIII D ... are also fees within the meaning of section 3 of article XIII C." (Bighorn, 39)

Cal.4th at 216; see also *Brooktrails Township Comm. Services Dist. v. Bd. of Supervisors* (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 195, 207 ("the money property owners were required to pay [for water service] did not qualify as a tax requiring a two-thirds vote, or even as an assessment that required a simple majority vote ... the money exacted was a fee").)

To support its theory that user fees are tax levies, the City cites *Dare v*. *Lakeport City Council* (1970) 12 Cal.App.3d 864. *Dare* was not a referendum case. At issue was an *initiative* that would have required the City to charge commercial sewer customers a volumetric fee rather than a flat fee for sewer service. (12 Cal.App.3d at 866-67.)

The Court viewed *City of Madera v. Black* (1919) 181 Cal. 306 as supposed precedent that a monthly sewer fee is a "tax." (*Dare*, 12 Cal.App.3d at 868.) *Madera v. Black*, however, set no such precedent. It held unremarkably that a monthly charge, over half of which was deposited not in the sewer fund, but in the City's general fund for expenditure on non-sewer public purposes, was partly a tax. (*Black*, 181 Cal. at 310-11.)

Having concluded (incorrectly) that under *Madera v. Black* sewer fees are "tax levies" exempt from the referendum power, the *Dare* Court then relied on *Myers v. City Council of Pismo Beach* (1966) 241 Cal.App.2d 237 for the now-defunct principle that initiatives "cannot be used as an indirect or backhanded technique to invoke the referendum process against a tax ordinance." (*Dare*, 12 Cal.App.3d at 867.)

The *Myers* line of cases, including *Dare v. Lakeport City Council*, was later overruled by the California Supreme Court in *Rossi v. Brown* when it held that initiatives are not "backhanded" referenda. (*Rossi v. Brown* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 688, 705 *et seq.*)

Notably, in the process of disapproving *Dare*, the Supreme Court corrected *Dare*'s mischaracterization of sewer charges as tax levies: "*Dare* ...

did *not* involve a charter city *or repeal of a tax*. The disputed initiative would have amended a city ordinance to fix the maintenance *fees* charged users for operation of the municipal sewage system." (*Rossi*, 9 Cal.4th at 708.) Thus, *Dare* is neither a referendum case, nor a case correctly defining sewer fees as taxes, nor good law.

In sum, no existing precedent holds that user fees for water service are "tax levies" excepted from the people's referendum power. But a multitude of precedent holds that taxes are not user fees, and vice versa. Thus, the City is mistaken when it claims that California courts interpret "broadly" the tax exception to the referendum power (Petition for Review at 16). That claim is also inconsistent with the applicable rule for interpreting exceptions to the referendum power:

"Our duty is to 'jealously guard' the referendum and initiative powers, and to liberally construe those powers so that they 'be not improperly annulled.' 'We resolve doubts about the scope of the initiative power in its favor whenever possible, and we *narrowly* construe provisions that would burden or limit the exercise of that power." (*City of Morgan Hill v. Bushey* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 1068, 1078 (applying narrow construction to referendum exception (citations omitted)); see also *California Cannabis Coalition v. City of Upland* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 924, 936; *Associated Home Builders etc., Inc. v. City of Livermore* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 582, 591.)

Giving respect to the constitution's modern definitions, and to the many cases, new and old, that distinguish taxes from fees, and to the Court's solemn duty to construe narrowly the exception for "tax levies," the City's water fees are not tax levies exempt from the people's referendum power. The Court of Appeal did not err. Review should be denied.

IV

THE CITY'S "IMMEDIATE SUSPENSION" ARGUMENT IS ILLOGICAL

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